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Author’s Note
From Robert K. Tanenbaum

			The entire manuscript of Coal Country Killing: A Culture, a Union, and the Murders That Changed It All was written jointly by Steve Jackson and me. This book is the product of more than four years of investigative work.

			More than that, however, eclipsing the voluminous trial records and investigative research, my forty-five-year friendship with Dick Sprague was invaluable. To explain it, as above, I have resorted to the first-person pronoun and briefly, here’s how it all began:

			In October ’76, I received a telephone call from Sprague. At the time, I was an assistant district attorney (ADA) in New York County (Manhattan) hired by legendary D.A. Frank S. Hogan. I had been bureau chief of the criminal courts, ran the homicide bureau, and oversaw the legal training of the staff. I had also successfully prosecuted to verdict several hundred cases and never lost a trial wherein a felony was charged.

			Sprague informed me that he was appointed chief counsel and staff director of the recently formed congressional committee entitled House Select Committee on Assassinations (HSCA) regarding the assassinations of President John F. Kennedy and the Reverend Dr. Martin Luther King. Dick asked me if I would be interested in leading the subcommittee investigation into the JFK assassination.

			Since Sprague and I had never met or ever spoken to one another, I said, “Why me?” He replied that I was recommended to him by several New York State Supreme Court judges who had presided over several high-profile cases that I had prosecuted. Sprague also stated that he had spoken with prominent defense counsel who advised that I was well-prepared and relentless in court but always fair and honest. Moreover, Sprague added that he had checked out my credentials during my ADA tenure.

			Shortly thereafter, Sprague and I met on several occasions, which resulted in my appointment as deputy chief counsel in charge of the President Kennedy probe.

			From that time, over the years, we worked together on many different and challenging cases. More than just an exceptional professional apolitical colleague, Sprague became a lifelong friend.

			Dick asked me several years ago to write this book. After all that had been written, he wanted the true story to be known. He supplied me with the actual ten thousand pages of trial transcripts of the cases’ six trials, which I read and outlined and some of which is quoted herein. In addition, he provided me with police reports, autopsy protocols, his contemporaneous notes, witnesses’ affidavits, and statements, as well as other investigative material.

			Most valuable, however, were his insights and detailed recollections of the events. We spent countless months going over his trial strategies, including how he tactically outmaneuvered the defense and his investigative vision that led inexorably to checkmating “Tough Tony” Boyle, the corrupt assassin and president of the United Mine Workers of America.

			Another character, if you will, that is featured in this book is the unique culture of Appalachian coal country, which affected the investigation and prosecution of these cases. Going back to the early eighteenth century and the mass migration of Scots-Irish immigrants to the Appalachian Mountain range, we seek in this book to illustrate how two hundred years later some members of that pious, proud, hardworking people got caught up in a war between their consciences and their loyalty to a union and its leadership that had protected their way of life for generations. Often maligned and misunderstood by the press and the public, it was fortunate that Sprague and his team saw them as an historic people, not foolhardy stereotypes, and only then were they able to get at the truth.

			On one level, Coal Country Killing speaks volumes about how a committed individual, Dick Sprague, can make a huge impact. A triumphant, uplifting victory delivered by a righteous legendary figure.

			Yet this book is much more meaningful. To do justice in our lives, to be civil, tolerant, rational, and forthright, is to enhance the dignity not only of ourselves but of the public office we may occupy, the job we hold, and the culture in which we thrive. Those values are timeless. We need to experience them so that we may always be reminded who we are and from where we came. When faced with cultural coarsening, we seek affirmation of triumph. Coal Country Killing satisfies that need.

			Throughout all the time Dick Sprague and I spent going over the case’s complexities and values that motivated extraordinary characters to ultimately seek justice, Dick’s only admonition was that I must always remain objective. My colleague, coauthor Steve Jackson, and I have fiercely sought to disclose the unvarnished truth throughout Coal Country Killing. I assure you our souls remain intact and uncompromised.

			During the course of the entire case, investigation, and trials, Sprague demonstrated the imperatives of the prosecutors’ mission: seek justice with immutable evidence and with painstaking preparation, exonerate the unjustly accused, and prosecute the guilty with firmness tempered with compassion, regardless of his influence and status.

			This book is dedicated to the memory of my dear, courageous, special friend, Richard A. Sprague.





Prologue

			The Visitors

			December 18, 1969

			The two young men facing Joseph “Jock” Yablonski late that afternoon fidgeted and kept glancing sideways at each other. Shuffling their feet, they hemmed and hawed as if waiting for the other to say, or do, something they’d planned.

			Standing in the doorway of his two-hundred-year-old stone farmhouse, Yablonski, a short, heavy-set fifty-nine-year-old with a face as craggy as the surrounding Appalachian hills, scowled. Something wasn’t right with these two men—one skinny and pasty-faced who did most of the talking and the other a moon-faced, thuggish-looking fellow with a five-o’clock shadow and thick dark eyebrows.

			A few minutes earlier, they’d pulled up in a maroon ’65 Chevrolet Caprice in front of Yablonski’s house. Yablonski and his family lived in a house in the country, near the tiny hamlet of Clarksville, just fifty miles south of Pittsburgh in southwestern Pennsylvania. They said they were out-of-work coalminers and were hoping to work at a nearby mine. They wanted his help to get a job.

			Suspicion knitted Yablonski’s own bushy eyebrows that perched above his deep-set eyes and prodigious nose like two hairy caterpillars. Recent events had made him cautious, and their story sounded like bullshit. Neither looked like a miner, and even if they were, any coalminer in the country knew he was in no position to help anyone get work in a union mine anymore.

			Less than two weeks earlier, Yablonski had lost a bitterly contested campaign for presidency of the United Mine Workers of America (UMWA). His opponent was the incumbent, William Anthony “Tough Tony” Boyle, who’d run the union as his personal fiefdom after being appointed to the position in 1963 by legendary labor leader John L. Lewis.

			Autocratic and short-tempered, Boyle had been under increasing criticism by some of the rank-and-file for what they perceived as his cozying up to the coal mine owners at their expense. While Boyle had his fiercely loyal supporters, especially those who fell under his protective arm, others felt he ignored mine safety and health issues—most notably black lung disease, the scourge of all coalminers—to assuage the owners…and line his own pockets. At least that’s what Yablonski, the former president of his district and a national union official until Boyle removed him, campaigned on as a “reform” candidate.

			Boyle did not take Yablonski’s candidacy well. He considered it a betrayal and a threat.

			Even before the election, strange cars started showing up in Clarksville and around Yablonski’s home in the country, as well as following him on the campaign trail. The Yablonskis received death threats on the home telephone, and Jock’s sons and friends warned him that his life was in danger from the moment he announced his candidacy.

			Their concerns seemed even more justified when goons jumped Yablonski at a Springfield, Illinois campaign stop in June 1969. One of them hit him so hard on the back of his neck that they knocked him unconscious for a few minutes and could have killed him if their aim had been slightly different.

			The election was held December 9, 1969, and Boyle emerged as the victor by a two-to-one margin. But with the victory came a deluge of allegations of fraud, tampering, intimidation, and ballot box–stuffing.

			Yablonski demanded that U.S. Department of Labor Secretary George Shultz look into the allegations. But the Labor Department, which politically didn’t want to get involved in union business, said that Yablonski first had to exhaust his “administrative remedies” by taking his grievances to the union hierarchy—a classic case of the fox watching the henhouse. In doing so, Secretary Shultz was permitting Tony Boyle to be the final arbiter of his own trustworthiness and honesty.

			However, Yablonski didn’t give up. In a fiery speech shortly after the election, he vowed to fight on. Yablonski, the former coalminerturned-union reformer filed suit in federal court with the help of renowned labor lawyer Joe Rauh. Rauh’s involvement in Yablonski’s lawsuit meant there would not just be an investigation of the fraudulent election allegations, but possibly an accounting of union finances.

			Boyle had reason to fear both. Desperate times called for desperate measures.

			The strangers returned, driving around Yablonski’s neighborhood and the town of Clarksville. Rumors traveled along the union grapevine that Boyle wanted Yablonski removed…permanently.

			Yablonski was tough too, so at first, he dismissed the danger. The election was over; he thought that any other confrontations between him and Boyle would be done in a courtroom.

			He balked when his sons suggested putting up floodlights around the remote house where he lived with his wife, Margaret, and twenty-five-year-old daughter Charlotte. Just a few days earlier, Margaret reported seeing a strange car parked across the road with men watching the house. He then put up the lights and told his sons, Kenneth and Chip, who lived on their own, that he was sleeping with a shotgun next to his bed.

			Now, these two dimwits at the front door had the audacity to show up with the nonsensical story about being unemployed, West Virginian coalminers. “Don’t think I can help you,” Yablonski said and tensely waited for their response.

			The two young men looked at each other. Then the skinny one shook his head and mumbled something about how they’d try another way. They turned and walked back to their car.

			Yablonski knew some dark moment had passed as he watched them get in the Chevy and drive off. He turned and walked back to his study where he picked up the telephone and called an old friend who’d sometimes accompanied him on the campaign trail as a bodyguard, “I think two guys were just here to kill me.”





Chapter One

			The Scots Irish

			The foundation for the tragedy that was to follow that fateful meeting on December 18, 1969 was laid, literally, some 330 million years earlier. That’s when the first steps towards the formation of coal in what became the Appalachian Mountains began.

			Coal is a black sedimentary rock formed from the remnants of organic material, mostly dead plants, that fall into the waters of swamps and bogs and are then submerged. Swamp water is oxygen-poor, and so the organic material decomposes much slower than it would in a more oxygen-rich environment.

			Combined with a temperate climate and acidic conditions that further slow decomposition, peat is created. A carbon-rich material, if dug up and dried peat will burn, as humans looking to warm their homes and cook have known for thousands of years.

			When the deposits are covered with sediment, the decomposition is slowed even more. Additionally, the pressure of the sediment layers above the deposits squeezes the moisture and methane gases out, increasing the density of the peat and increasing the carbon level.

			In large areas that had formerly been swamps, created peat, and finally been covered with sediment, sink, they’re called “sedimentary basins.” The basins then fill with more sediment causing an even greater amount of pressure on the peat, turning it into “lignite,” or brown coal. Add more heat and pressure over millions of years and brown coal turns into first sub-bituminous coal, then bituminous or “soft coal,” followed by anthracite “hard coal,” and finally graphite, which is pure carbon.

			Geographically, the Appalachian Mountains stretch from Belle Island in Canada to Cheaha Mountain in Alabama. However, Appalachia wasn’t always in its current location, nor would it have been as coal-rich if it had been. Up until about 330 million years ago, the land was almost on the equator, and it was a huge swampland. It was covered by massive trees and other tropical vegetation that would die and fall into the waters. But then the tectonic plate below the swamp slowly moved north until reaching its present location.

			However, the Appalachian tectonic plate area was not mountainous. That didn’t happen until about 275 million years ago when another plate, as well as what is now Africa, crashed into the east side of the North American continent, crumpling the land into the Appalachian Mountains with its peaks and valleys. There, one of the largest coal deposits in the world sat for hundreds of millions of years undisturbed beneath an immense forest of conifers and broad-leafed deciduous trees with a thick undergrowth, impassable except by trails created by the abundant wildlife.

			About sixteen thousand years ago, humans arrived in the area—hunter-gathers who followed those game trails, hunted the animals, and lived in harmony with their verdant world, hardly changing the landscape even with their villages. Some of these peoples would discover that a certain kind of black rock occasionally found lying on the surface, or discovered in the roots of fallen trees, or exposed by water that rushed down the narrow vales, would burn and give off heat. In some parts of the North American continent, particularly the Southwest, aboriginal people even dug shallow pits for coal to use for cooking and heat, as well as to bake their pottery.

			These indigenous people, however, didn’t live in harmony with each other. Long before Europeans arrived, the Americas were a bloody place rife with intertribal warfare. Empires rose that slaughtered, absorbed, and subjugated weaker tribes. The Aztec. The Inca. The Mixtec. All ruled in Mexico and Central and South America. In the Appalachian area, the Iroquois Confederacy (“Six Nations”), as well as the Shawnee and the Cherokee, claimed large areas and defended them from incursions by the others.

			Violence was a way of life. They fought over hunting grounds, or to prove their manhood; they took slaves and killed non-combatants.

			Most of these war parties were small in nature, and the casualties few. But this was not always was case. In January 1921, hunters in Mingo Hollow, one of the richest coal-mining areas in Bell County, Kentucky, chased a fox into a shallow cave. Inside, they found the skeletons of several men with flint battle-axes, arrowheads, and tufts of long dark hair.

			Leaf Sixkiller, a Cherokee Indian living in Wauhillau, Oklahoma, saw news reports about the find and connected it to an oral history tradition of the Cherokee that spoke of at least two battles that had been fought between the Cherokee, who had been located south of present-day Cumberland Gap,1 and tribes living north of the gap. Both battles were said to have occurred just prior to 1700 or very soon thereafter.2

			“The first legendary battle occurred when a band of Mingo Indians led by Oogolah, the Eagle, invaded the Cherokee territory south of what was known then as Ouasioto Pass, now Cumberland Gap. A raiding party of fifty braves attacked the Cherokee settlements and killed everyone they encountered including women, children, and men—both young and old alike. They took over one hundred scalps before heading back north through the pass.

			“The enraged Cherokee upon hearing of the atrocities gathered all possible warriors and started north to avenge their dead. The Mingos were not moving quickly as they had taken plunder from the Cherokee homes and being unfamiliar with the lay of the land. They became concerned that the Cherokee would easily overtake them on the well-worn Warrior’s Path and thus they would be easy prey.

			“Therefore, they fled west into the marshes of Yellow Creek once they were through the pass. When they got to Stony Fork, they took the left branch with the Cherokee in hot pursuit. They had lost few men at this point, but as they fled up the narrowing hollow, Oogolah realized he had boxed his forces into a very poor position and the Cherokee were fast overtaking them.

			Oogolah turned his men to face the hundreds of enraged Cherokees and raised his death chant. The legend held that no Mingos survived the slaughter.” Sixkiller theorized that a few mortally wounded men may have managed to find a cave and hid there to die with their scalp locks intact.”3

			A second legend from Bell County, according to Sixkiller, told of a great confederation of northern Indians invading the southern Cherokee settlements with a force of 1,500 warriors and led by the most noted chiefs of the tribes. “The Cherokee had been warring for years with the tribes of the north and had learned to post scouts at the gap,” Sixkiller said.

			“When the tribes arrived at the gap, it was near dark, so they camped along Yellow Creek north of the gap intending to make the passage through the gap at dawn of the next day. The Cherokee scouts, realizing that the northern tribes war party did not intend to attempt the gap that night, hurried to the nearest Cherokee town. Runners were then sent out to warn the other Cherokee villages to the south and to organize war parties to meet the coming challenge.

			“Every man in the small Cherokee village marched to the Gap determined to take the advantage offered by the narrow gap in the mountains to ambush the northern tribes war party when they attempted to come through the next day. They hoped to at least stall the advance of the enemy long enough to allow the other villages time to prepare.

			“That night there came a huge storm with heavy rain in the area of the gap and to the north. Because Yellow Creek drained a large basin of land, it quickly rose and burst from its banks covering the northern tribes’ war camp. Many of the sleeping invaders were drowned in the flash flood. The remaining warriors ran for their lives to any available higher ground or crevice for shelter. The night was dark, and the rain fell in torrents. They had fled their camp without taking time to gather their weapons.

			“When dawn came, the Cherokee found the camp of their invaders essentially washed away and saw the surviving warriors in a state of confusion. The Cherokee took full advantage of the situation and proceeded to kill all the survivors. The legend says they took over 1,000 scalps that day. Few if any of the northern Indians were thought to have escaped the slaughter.”4

			Sixkiller suggested that maybe a few of the braves escaped up Mingo Hollow and perished in the cave from their wounds. He stated that many Cherokee living in Oklahoma still had tufts of hair said to have been taken in that battle on Yellow Creek just north of present-day Cumberland Gap and very near Mingo Hollow.5

			The inter-tribal warfare between First Americans went on for hundreds of years. Then, beginning in the late seventeenth century, these aboriginal peoples were confronted by a new group of tribal people, a people perhaps even more inured to warfare than they were. A people who, as a popular book would proclaim, were “born fighting.”6

			This new tribe arrived first on the Atlantic Coast in sailing vessels, most disembarking from Londonderry, Ireland and landing in Philadelphia. The came looking for land to farm, religious freedom, and a way to escape the British yoke.

			Ethnically Scots, they’d lived for generations in what was called the Ulster Plantation in Northern Ireland and were called Ulstermen or Ulster Scots in England and Catholic Ireland. In the colonies, they became known as the Scots Irish. Hard-working and loyal to a fault, they arrived with a reputation for rugged individualism, a willingness to fight for each other and their beliefs, and an innate mistrust of government.

			Long before their arrival in the American colonies, their ethnic forefathers, the Scots, had a long history of fighting for independence and resisting authority imposed from the outside whether it was the Romans or the English. Their first allegiance was to their clans, large extended families, and their communities, which were often centered on their churches.

			At great cost, the English were able to conquer their unruly neighbors to the north in three different centuries. But the victories were pyrrhic, and the first two times the Scots regained their independence due to their penchant for guerilla warfare and courageous battles.

			The most famous and important of the latter during the First War of Scottish Independence was the Battle of Bannockburn in June 1314. The badly outnumbered forces of King of the Scots Robert the Bruce soundly defeated the forces of King Edward II of England. It would take another fourteen years to secure the victory in the Second War of Scottish Independence, but the battle demonstrated the ferocity of Scots in the cause of freedom and was a defining moment in their history.

			In the mid-1600s, Scotland was again subdued by Oliver Cromwell and the English army to conclude the third English Civil War. But rather than impose harsh punishments and abject subjugation and risk a fourth war of independence, Cromwell wisely sought inclusion as opposed to occupation. Scotland was brought into a commonwealth with England as an autonomous, self-governing country. They made it official in 1707 and became the United Kingdom.

			The Scots-Irish branch came about as a result of warfare as well. In 1603, the Nine Years’ War between Catholic Ireland and Protestant England came to an end with Irish earls ceding an area of Northern Ireland known as Ulster to the British crown. The area and its people had been decimated by warfare, so the English Crown’s idea was to entice fractious Scots who lived along the border with England to the “Ulster Plantation” in part to get them away from the border, in part to cultivate the land and pay rent, and in part to keep their Irish cousins in line.

			Although they came to farm, the immigrants found themselves in a state of continuous guerilla warfare with the native Irish chieftains and their followers who resented the Scots presence. But as tough as the Irish raiders were, they were no match for Scots hardened by a thousand years of fighting Romans, Vikings, or the English.

			Eventually, the Ulster Scots beat back the Irish and enjoyed a period of relative peace. However, with the Catholic Irish uprising in 1641 and another all-out war between the Irish and English from 1688 to 1691, the Presbyterian Ulstermen, who found themselves targets of the Irish, joined with the Anglican English. The Irish were defeated and an English government set up in Dublin.

			The Presbyterian Ulstermen expected to be viewed favorably as allies and treated with religious tolerance by the Anglican English. Instead, they were regarded by the government in Dublin with the same disdain and religious persecution as the despised Irish Catholics.

			The Ulster population had again been decimated by the wars. Needing someone to work their properties, the English landowners enticed another wave of Scots to the plantation by offering more long-term leases on farmland. In the decade leading up to 1700, an estimated fifty thousand new settlers crossed the North Sea to Ulster.

			After the turn of the century, the English Crown and Parliament withdrew all pretense of religious tolerance for the Presbyterian Ulster Scots. The Irish Test Act of 1704 required that all crown officials be of the Anglican faith; this regulation eventually included all those in the military, or employed by civil service, municipal corporations, and educational institutions. The Scots-Irish, devoutly Presbyterian, were not only excluded from any sort of power; they couldn’t practice their faith; even their clergy was stripped of its authority to perform marriages.7

			Already chafing under their second-class status, the final straw for the Ulster Scots broke in 1710 as the long-term leases began to expire. The English landlords reacted by doubling and tripling the rents, which forced many off their farms. Rather than submit to the new economic and religious hardships, entire Ulster communities—sometimes as large extended families, or even congregational groups led by their ministers—shipped out for the American colonies.

			By the mid-1700s, nearly two hundred thousand of the Scots Irish, as they became known in the Americas, had immigrated to the colonies. They were joined shortly before the American Revolution in 1776 by another thirty thousand. They were the largest contingent of immigrants in the eighteenth century except for the forced “immigration” of African slaves.

			The majority initially chose Pennsylvania as a destination because the Quakers in charge there were more tolerant of different faiths than the Puritans in the other colonies.

			Some, especially tradesmen, settled in the cities and towns of more populous coast and Piedmont, the plateau between the coastal plain and the Appalachian Mountains to the west. But most made their way south and west into the mountains looking for land to farm, eager to practice their religion free from oppression.

			Although some were impoverished, even arriving in the American colonies as indentured servants, by and large they were not penniless. They pooled their resources as extended families and congregational groups and set out in wagons for the mountains south and west of the more populous and English-dominated coastal regions.

			Nor were they uneducated and illiterate as their descendants would someday be stereotyped. They were products of the Scottish Enlightenment that had swept through the region beginning in the early 1700s and carrying on through the rest of the century. In that time, Scotland’s greatest thinkers in philosophy, engineering, architecture, medicine, botany, agriculture, and law were equal to any in the rest of Europe. Education and literacy were encouraged, and books treasured. As such, the Scots Irish were some of the most literate of all the immigrant waves to the colonies.

			The migration of the Scots Irish into the Appalachian Mountains was encouraged by the colonial governments east of the Appalachian Mountains to push back the wilderness and as a bulwark against hostile indigenous tribes. As they had in Ireland, the Scots Irish desired to farm but found themselves in conflict with the natives who resented their intrusion upon the lands they’d dwelt upon for centuries.

			The tribes quickly learned that the Scots Irish were no pushovers, having fought in England and Ireland. Tough, iron-willed men who became the archetype of the frontiersman of American folklore learned from the indigenous warriors how to wage guerilla warfare in the wilderness and brought their own brand of ferocity to the fight.

			Out beyond the edge of civilization, there was no help from the government. No army was coming to defend them. The frontiersman had to be able to count on his family and neighbors. A man’s word was his bond, and loyalty was treasured above material wealth. As it had always been, the Scots Irish had only their toughness, their faith, and each other to fend off a hostile world.

			As it had been in the old country, their martial prowess became legendary. During the French and Indian War of 1754, it was the Scots-Irish frontiersmen who beat back the enemy for the English Crown. But their reward was to again be viewed as second-class citizens—uneducated, uncouth, and uncivilized—by the English-dominated colonialists, and treated with disdain by the British military whose bacon they saved.

			One of the hallmarks of the humanist-oriented thinking of the Scottish Enlightenment was the importance of reason combined with the rejection of any authority that could not justify its right to rule. Whether a king “appointed by God,” a parliament, or colonial governor, government’s powers were by the consent of the governed. It was a philosophy that would make its way into the writings and philosophy of the colonists to the East who would one day declare independence from English rule.

			When the American Revolution broke out, the Scots Irish of Appalachia lived far away from the authority of the British crown. But they had no great love or loyalty to the revolutionaries to the east.

			They would have likely remained British subjects with no more use for the fledgling government in Philadelphia than the English parliament, except for strategic mistakes made by the British military that turned the frontiersmen against them. One particularly egregious mistake by the British was arming the Cherokee and other tribes to wage war against the Appalachian settlers, something the French had done in the previous war. Atrocities would be committed by both sides during the bitter guerilla warfare that ensued, but such a vicious plan was unforgiveable in the eyes of the settlers.

			If that wasn’t enough, partway through the conflict the British threatened to hang the leaders of the Scots Irish and destroy their settlements if they did not swear fealty to the Crown. If they met any resistance, real or imagined, the British would burn homesteads, arrest clergy, who were often the leaders of their communities, and confiscate crops and livestock without payment. Essentially, the British, who were winning the war at that point, pushed the independent Scots Irish onto the side of the revolutionaries.

			As the Irish learned in Ulster, and the indigenous tribes had experienced all along the frontier, there was no tougher, more capable guerilla fighters than the Scots Irish. Expert marksmen who had learned to fight in the forests from the natives, armed with tomahawks and knives as well as long rifles, no British or Hessian regular wanted to hear their war cries.

			Sometimes on their own, and sometimes combined with the Continental Army, the mountaineers terrorized their red- and green-coated opponents. At Fort Thicketty in upstate South Carolina, their mere presence caused the British forces to surrender without firing a shot. At Musgrove Mill in Spartanburg County, South Carolina, they combined with the rebel army and routed the British. At Kings Mountain on the North and South Carolina border they joined forces again and destroyed a third of the British Army in the Carolinas.

			Then in January 1781, outside of the South Carolina town of Cowpens, they were instrumental in the fighting that helped the Continental Army obliterate General Cornwallis’s army. Not long after the battle, the humiliated general surrendered at Yorktown.

			It can be safely said that without the fighting contributions of the Scots Irish from the hills and dales of Appalachia, the United States of America may have never survived its first decade. In some quarters, their contributions were recognized. When the outcome was still in doubt, George Washington was quoted as saying that if the cause was lost everywhere else, he would make a last stand among the Scots Irish in his native Virginia.

			Even the enemy recognized their importance to the American cause. Serving in the British Army, Captain Johann Henricks, one of the despised Hessian mercenaries, wrote home in frustration, “Call it not an American rebellion, it is nothing more than an Irish-Scotch Presbyterian rebellion.”8

			After the war was won and the country established, the newly minted Scots-Irish Americans went back to their forested hills, fertile farms, and verdant pastures. They had no use for their fellow citizens and the opposite was true for the time being.

			Even their role as a bulwark against the indigenous tribes was diminished. The revolution spelled the beginning of the end for the native peoples in many parts of Appalachia, especially those who sided with the British. Although the guerilla warfare and occasional uprisings would go on for a time, the native people were gradually forced from the lands where they’d once hunted, fished, and fought over for centuries.

			Meanwhile, except for the occasional flamboyant politician sent from the hills to the halls of Congress and even the White House, the Appalachian frontiersman faded into myth and folklore, whether as real characters like Daniel Boone of Kentucky and Davey Crockett of Tennessee, or fictional, such as Hawkeye in James Fenimore Cooper’s 1826 classic The Last of the Mohicans.

			They were left alone as the burgeoning population of the East Coast and Piedmont washed up against the wall of the mountains, which was how they liked it. Their communities were like islands in a river: most settlers who left the East looking for their own bit of land swept around them and kept on going to new frontiers farther west.

			As time passed, the Appalachian communities grew increasingly isolated. The wider world passed them by, and they were content that it did. They were living in a real-life Eden, relying on themselves to govern, rather than dictates from back East, and listening to their preachers on Sunday to steer them on the road to righteousness. Cut off from the evolving world, their culture often resembled that of the Old World their predecessors left including their music, their speech patterns, and their cultural identity.

			Occasionally, they would come down from their hills, lining up on both sides, such as when the war broke out between the North and South. But after the war, they again retreated to their mountain homes.

			Other peoples would eventually move into the area—Germans, Welsh, Polish, Italians—especially when the coal the Scots Irish had been using for heating and small forges became a precious commodity for a nation that was rapidly expanding and industrializing after the Civil War. But wherever the newcomers originated, they found a strong, vibrant culture that was resistant to outside influences.

			Rather than be changed by the immigrants, the Scots Irish brought them into their fold. Within a generation the children of newcomers would be talking with the Appalachian dialect of their region and playing “hillbilly music,” adding touches, and instruments, from their own cultures.

			Other religions would find tolerance, and Presbyterian would give way to Southern Baptist, Methodist, and small, isolated fundamentalist churches, including those in the Holiness movement known for poisonous snake-handling.

			However, by and large, the Scots Irish influence on Appalachian culture would run like a river through the population even as different ethnicities settled in the area. The hallmarks of that culture: they were loyal, especially to family and each other, hard-working, honest, violent in defense of their interests, pious, and mistrustful of government.

			Two hundred and fifty years after they began arriving in the Americas and settled in what would become coal country, the Scots Irish culture would play a significant role in what happened to Jock Yablonski and his family, as well as Tony Boyle, the president of the United Mine Workers of America, and those caught up in his web.

			All of it formed over a black sedimentary rock from the remnants of organic material, mostly dead plants, that fall into the waters of swamps and bogs.





Chapter Two

			Bloody Harlan

			If the Appalachian settlers could have foreseen how a growing nation’s rapacious appetite for coal would transform their communities, their way of life, and their idyllic surroundings, they might have fought it as fiercely as they fought the indigenous tribes and the British. But the changes began slowly.

			Coal was discovered in eastern North America in 1673, but with plenty of wood available it was seldom used for heating. Commercial coal mining for residential heat and small forges didn’t begin until the 1740s.

			After the Revolutionary War, miners in northeastern Pennsylvania discovered significant deposits of anthracite coal, which burns hotter and cleaner than bituminous. It was soon the predominant heating source in Philadelphia and other cities in the state. By the 1840s, anthracite was used to heat residences and commercial buildings all along the eastern seaboard.

			However, most coal mined, including in the rest of Appalachia, was bituminous, which was much more plentiful. On the eve of the Civil War in 1861, significant, mostly bituminous, coal mining existed in twenty states.

			Coal mining was America’s first big industry and soon formed a symbiotic relationship with other major industries of the growing nation, especially railroads and steel-making. Coal powered the Industrial Revolution after the Civil War and drove the steam-engines of commerce and manifest destiny.

			However, the burgeoning demand for coal brought with it enormous changes, particularly in Appalachia, where it would forever transform the culture, the way of life, and the natural surroundings. It would also be responsible for the most dangerous occupation in the world that, along with the demand for better wages and living conditions, would give rise to the United Mine Workers of America.

			In the early days of coal mining in the United States, the mines tended to be small operations. A miner would hire a few laborers to help him extract coal, most of which lay on or close to the surface and didn’t require deep tunnels or large-scale open-pit mines. The shallow diggings were usually located along waterways where the coal could be transported by barges.

			However, as the demand for coal grew, so did the need to find ways to get at the coal in less accessible regions, maximize production, and then transport it over greater distances. The need was met by the railroads, especially after the Civil War.

			When the coal companies pushed their way into the Appalachian Mountains, they found agrarian communities that had limited contact with the outside world. Nor did these people want contact. The Civil War and the crowded polluted cities of the eastern seaboard and Piedmont had shown them the “benefits of civilization,” and other than commodities they could not make themselves, they wanted no part of it.

			Nearly a hundred years after the Revolutionary War, the mountaineers remained a proud people—independent and self-sufficient, content to live out their lives among extended families and tightknit communities centered around their churches. They grew and raised most of what they needed, supplementing it with the creatures of the forests and streams. They had their own way of speaking, their own music, and a tradition of looking out for their own. They were loyal and honest to a fault and maintained a strong belief in a God who rewarded the righteous and punished the wicked, and a general mistrust of outside authority.

			The early story of coal mining in Appalachia is one of greed and deceit. A story of how the railroad and steel companies, which determined that it was better to own the coal mines on which they depended, as well as private investors, most of them from northern cities, separated a land from its people.

			Agents representing the companies and investors bought up large tracts of unused forests. But much of the acquisition was accomplished with “broad form deeds” that the local landowners—most of them simple farmers, herdsmen, and tradesmen—were persuaded to sign in exchange for cash.

			The agents told the landowners that the deeds applied only to the mineral rights, in this case coal, that lay beneath the surface of their property. It sounded like a good deal to the locals. They could keep farming the surface, and the mine operators would tunnel underneath for the coal.

			What the agents failed to make clear was that the deeds allowed the mine operators to get to the seams of coal by whatever means were necessary. In the mid-1800s, the demand for coal had moved the industry away from small deposits near the surface to mines with deep shafts and tunnels many stories deep to get at the larger deposits.

			Soon Appalachia was honeycombed by large subsurface mines. It meant forests were cut down to clear land and provide timber for the shafts. And the once crystal-clear waters were polluted with the byproducts of mining.

			However, a lot of the coal in Appalachia lay in large seams starting comparatively close to the surface and then in tiers further down, like icing between layers of cake. The easiest and cheapest way to get at it was the peel back the surface, dig up the first seam and then continue down until it ran out. To create these open pit mines not only were the primordial forests cut down, but farms and pastures and entire mountain tops scraped flat as pancakes.

			The impact on the environment, which in turn affected the culture and way of life of the Appalachian people, was enormous. Once crystal-clear waters were polluted, the fish and wildlife decimated. Nor were there any real laws requiring that the mine operators restore the surface of the land after they were done ravaging the land.9

			Not all the purchased land, or rights acquired through broad form deeds, was mined right away. A generation or more might pass before a farmer learned that his grandfather signed a deed. But there would be nothing the current occupant could do about it except stand by and watch his land decimated. If he protested or tried to fight it, the law and its enforcers were on the side of the mine operators.

			These were a people whose self-image and culture were wrapped up in the land they loved. Their ancestors left Northern Ireland for America and then moved west into the mountains looking for land. They’d found an unspoiled utopia and fought to keep it. If they’d changed the land for their home, farms, pastures, and small communities, it had changed them even more. Their heritage was Scots-Irish, but they were Appalachian mountaineers and that was how they saw themselves.

			However, what that meant would undergo an enormous change due to coal. For one thing, mining altered the ethnic makeup of Appalachia. The mostly Scots-Irish inhabitants were used to hard work, but they weren’t miners. In need of skilled miners, the coal companies brought in immigrants from the coal-mining areas of the world, especially Wales and England, but also countries such as Italy, Ireland, and Poland.

			The dominant local culture, which due to its adversity-hardened and homogenous nature, certainly imparted its mainstay qualities to the newcomers. But the immigrants brought their own brand of toughness and a legacy of hardships they’d overcome getting to America. They had their own cultural traits, as well as different denominations of Christianity, including the old enemy, Irish Catholics. However, they tended to assimilate easily into the local population, even after a generation or two adopting the accent of mountaineers, as well as their music, behaviors, and love for their new homeland.

			The evolution from farming to coal mining, as well as the influx of immigrant miners, also affected the types of communities. Towns grew, as did the presence of law enforcement, many of whom owed their paychecks, and sometimes more under the table, to the coal mine operators. But the operators took it further.

			In part to lure skilled mine workers to the region, the mine owners also built “company towns” near mines that included housing, schools, community buildings, and even churches. They also established company stores where the mining families could purchase everything from clothing to household items. It was all owned and operated by the coal companies, which determined who could live in the housing and often paid their workers in script only good at the company stores.

			As the farms and pastures disappeared, even the long-time locals turned to working in the mines and sometimes leaving their homes to live in company towns. The outside world’s image of the Appalachian as frontiersman and farmer changed to that of a coalminer, the lines of his face and hands permanently etched in black coal dust.

			Even the children were transformed. They went from farm kids, raised in households where literacy was valued, living healthy lifestyles in the sun and fresh air, to dropping out of school to work in the mines, often before puberty. Photographs of their exhausted soot-covered faces, eyes old before their time, would come to symbolize Appalachia.

			Those on the outside, with the help of the national press, created a stereotype of the Appalachian people as illiterate and ignorant hillbillies. They poked fun at the way the mountaineers spoke in funny anachronistic accents and entertained themselves with hillbilly music. They shook their heads about church services where poisonous snakes were handled and pastors worked their congregants into seizures and speaking in tongues. Jokes were made about cousins marrying cousins.

			Forgotten were the Scots-Irish forebearers’ contributions to the formation of the United States, not just in regard to fighting in the Revolutionary War, but in regards to concepts that made their way into the Declaration of Independence, the U.S. Constitution and the Bill of Rights, such as the rights of the individual and the notion that governments existed only by consent of the governed. Without acknowledging where these concepts came from, Americans in general adopted the mountaineers’ toughness, self-reliance, and independence as their own.

			By the early 1900s, an entire group of people was thought of by their fellow citizens as backwards brutes not good for much of anything, except mining coal. Their tragedies—the coal mine disasters, the destruction of their mountain home—and their struggles, whether with poverty or the coal mine operators and their henchmen, hardly merited any mention in mainstream newspapers.

			In order to power, heat, and build a nation, they toiled in abysmal conditions and, far too often, it cost them their lives. When coal mining moved underground, it created two issues for coalminers and eventually for the union that took up their causes.

			One, it necessitated advances in technology, such as pumps to cleanse the mine of poisonous gases and bring in fresh air, as well as the machinery to harvest and remove the coal. The machinery meant that more coal could be produced by fewer laborers, a trend that would continue for a hundred years and impact their union’s efforts to keep them employed.

			The second issue was the use of explosives, especially after the Civil War. Again, dynamite could get at the coal faster than men could dig, and that meant fewer jobs in relation to the amount of coal produced. But it also increased the risk of mining. By the turn of the nineteenth century, thousands of mine workers were dying every year in the United States due to explosions, cave-ins, floods, fires, and gases.

			The danger of methane gas and coal dust—both byproducts of coal mining—as fuels for underground explosions were well-known. Every explosion underground produced the fine black dust that would hang in the air. A small spark could ignite either the methane gas or the dust, or sometimes both in combination. Pumps were used to reduce gas and coal dust buildups. Mine operators were supposed to spread rock dust—generally pulverized limestone—to mix with coal dust and diffuse its explosive capabilities, but these requirements were often ignored by the operators and government inspectors.

			As bad as the fatalities from mine accidents were, they didn’t take into account a more insidious danger: the air the miners breathed. Anyone associated with underground coal mining was aware that even young men would develop deep coughs, hacking up viscous blue-black phlegm. Many died old before their time, gasping for breath.

			Autopsies revealed lungs stained black. But the first recorded connection between coal dust and miners was described in 1831 by Dr. James Craufurd Gregory. After chemical analysis of the lungs of a former coalminer who’d essentially suffocated, he was the first to consider “black lung disease” to be an occupational disease related to coal dust.

			Gregory even alerted other physicians to watch for the disease in miners, but the industry did almost nothing to protect miners. Initially respirators were developed for emergency use only, such as escaping a detected gas buildup. It wouldn’t be until the mid-twentieth century that respirators would be commonly worn while working in a coal mine.

			Showers to rinse the coal dust off when miners emerged from the shafts weren’t provided. So, they took the dust home with them—homes that usually didn’t have running water for bathing or washing clothes. A fine layer of black dust covered everything, exposing other family members to its effects on their lungs.

			For most of the nineteenth century, the mine operators pretty much operated as they wanted. Mine workers had to accept what the operators were willing to pay, the poor working conditions, and the lack of mine safety, or they could look for a job elsewhere. The company towns didn’t just ensure that the operators had enough workers, but also was a way to control them. Complain, or try to organize a union, and a miner would find himself and his family on the streets without a job.

			In the early days of U.S. coal mining, “management” was generally working alongside the help, and that made labor relations pretty simple and straight forward. Everybody was in it together. Although there were attempts to organize mine workers in the 1840s and 1850s, they didn’t have much influence and generally folded soon after they were formed.

			In 1875, the largest and most organized miner’s union of that time was formed by the Knights of Labor. It was called the National Federation of Miners and Mine Laborers of the United States.

			Initially, the Federation’s goals weren’t higher wages—that wouldn’t come until the 1890s. Instead, the union’s stated objectives were an eight-hour workday and better working conditions.

			However, the federation was poorly organized and had more of a philosophical bent about the plight of the working man than a practical one to improve his life. Faced with rapidly dwindling numbers, the Federation joined with the National Progressive Miners of America and on January 25, 1890, created the United Mine Workers of America (UMWA).

			Recognizing the challenge to their profits and authority, the coal mine operators were determined to destroy the union. It was no accident that the birth of the UMWA coincided with the start of a violent period of labor unrest in the coal fields of America known as the “Coal Wars.” Fought off and on in the years between 1890 and into the 1930s, the conflicts were waged predominantly in Appalachia, though deadly confrontations would also break out in Colorado and Illinois.

			Sometimes wages were the main focal point of UMWA demands. However, the union’s main emphasis was on combating the exploitation of mine workers, especially in company towns, and improving mine safety and working conditions. The main tactic was to call a strike to shut down production until demands were met.

			However, meeting those demands would cost the mine operators money and control. They responded by firing workers and turning them and their families out of company-owned homes, sometimes for as little as attending UMWA informational meetings. But they also hired “gun thugs” and employed “detective agencies”—especially the Pinkerton and Baldwin-Felt agencies—to confront the organizers and the striking miners. Their money also bought local sheriffs and politicians, who could be counted on to protect the interests of the owners, even if it meant calling in the state or national guards to deal with strikers.

			Created to better the lives of coal workers, the UMWA found itself fighting a war. The union was only a little more than a year old when on April 3, 1891, deputized members of the 10th Regiment of the National Guard fired on a crowd of mostly immigrant strikers in Morewood, Pennsylvania. Ten strikers were killed and dozens more were wounded.

			On September 10, 1897, nineteen miners were killed in Lattimer, Pennsylvania during a march in support of the union. Between those two dates in Morewood and then Lattimer, there were many more instances of individuals being assaulted, killed, or blacklisted and chased out of town.

			In the early days, the effectiveness of the UMWA was hit and miss. Four years after it was formed, the union called for its first nationwide strike. Known as the “Bituminous Coal Miners’ Strike of 1897,” the union was reacting to the mine owners slashing workers’ salaries up to 30 percent due to a downturn in the economy and a related drop in demand for coal.

			The National Guard was called up in several states to keep the strikers and their replacements apart. But soldiers sided against the UMWA.

			In the end, the strike fizzled because the owners were willing to wait it out and because the strike was disorganized: some heeded the call to strike, but others didn’t. After three weeks, when the UMWA leadership wanted the strike to end, some strikers stayed out.

			Nothing much was accomplished by the strike. However, it did show that the UMWA was capable of coordinating a nationwide strike, even if it also demonstrated that the union leadership could not control all of its members.

			The growing influence of the UMWA became clear during the Coal Strike of 1902. Led by the UMWA and centered in eastern Pennsylvania, the strike only ended after President Theodore Roosevelt stepped in as a neutral arbitrator by which the union won some concessions regarding mine safety and wages.

			However, violence was more often the result than arbitration and negotiation. In October 1903, the UMWA called for a strike in Colorado. Mine operators responded by paying the Pinkerton Agency to infiltrate the union and then went after the union officers and organizers.

			Beginning in 1910, fifteen thousand coalminers went on strike in Westmoreland, Pennsylvania led largely by immigrant Slovak union miners. Sixteen people were killed during the strike, most of them miners and their family members.

			In April 1912, union mine workers in Kanawha County, West Virginia went on strike. This time mine operators hired the Baldwin-Felts Detective Agency for the violent repression of the miners. Before it was over, fifty people, mostly miners, had died violent deaths; another fifty miners died of starvation and malnutrition, making it the worst conflict in terms of casualties in American labor history.

			One of the most infamous, however, was the Ludlow Massacre during the Colorado Coalfield War of 1913–1914, during which the Colorado Fuel and Iron Company, owned by John D. Rockefeller Jr., was pit against mineworkers in Ludlow.

			On April 20, 1914, armed police officers, Baldwin-Felts detectives, hired gun thugs, and the Colorado National Guard attacked a tent city of miners and their families. The miners had been kicked out of their company-owned housing for complaining about the unfair practices of the company stores and for attending UMWA meetings. An estimated twenty inhabitants of the camp, including women and children, were killed.

			UMWA members were not above initiating the killing. During the Hartford coal mine riot of July 1914, two non-union miners were murdered by union miners. The mine owners, and their political, media, and law enforcement lackeys, worked to sway public opinion by portraying striking miners as illiterate, violent brutes who murdered innocent men trying to make a living.

			When four hundred thousand members of the UMWA went on strike on November 1918, during the height of World War I, the federal government intervened on behalf of the mine owners. U.S. Attorney General A. Mitchell Palmer invoked the Lever Act, a new law criminalizing interference with the production of wartime necessities, such as coal. The courts agreed with the government and issued an injunction ordering the miners back to work.

			At the same time, the mine operators used the strike to evoke the bogeyman of the Russian revolution and communism. With the help of a friendly press, they put the word out that the UMWA was in the pay of Lenin.

			The court of public opinion outside of coal country was not on the side of mine workers. The Coal Wars reinforced the Appalachian mountaineers’ long-held belief that they were on their own against a hostile outside world that didn’t care about them, their struggles, or their lives. They couldn’t count on the law. Or the government. Or even their fellow Americans. But they had each other and, though there were still going to be growing pains, they had their union.

			The year 1920 was pivotal in UMWA history. One reason was the introduction to the world of one of the most dynamic and controversial labor leaders of the twentieth century.

			Prior to 1920, the UMWA had eight presidents of varying degrees of effectiveness. But none like John L. Lewis, a beetle-browed, leonine-headed, charismatic force of nature. He was loud, fearless, aggressive, and confrontational and would at the beginning of a career in which he would become a revered, nearly mythological, icon among the union membership. However, before he became a legend, the man and his union nearly became a mere footnote in the history of American labor.

			In early 1920, Lewis decided that the union needed to organize Mingo County in southern West Virginia. Most of the state’s coal fields had been brought into the UMWA fold, but they were having trouble bringing the counties in the south part of the state into the fold.

			One of those counties, Logan, was controlled by the vehemently anti-union Sheriff Don Chafin, who had deputized an army of gun thugs to enforce the will of the mine operators. But Mingo, the next county over, was leaning pro-union, including Cabell Testerman, the mayor of Matewan, the county seat. Testerman had appointed twenty-seven-year-old Sid Hatfield, who’d worked in the mines as a teenager, as the town police chief, and he was decidedly, and violently, pro-union.

			Under Lewis’s direction, the union quickly made inroads in recruiting miners in Mingo. The operators responded by firing union sympathizers, blacklisting them, and having Baldwin-Felts detectives evict them from company housing.

			The UMWA countered by setting up a tent colony for the homeless miners and their families. By early May, three thousand out of the four thousand miners in Mingo County had joined the union.

			The back and forth could have only led to escalation. That escalation arrived on May 19 when eleven Baldwin-Felts detectives, including two of the founder’s brothers, were leaving Matewan after serving eviction notices. They walked into a trap set by Hatfield. By the time the smoke from the gunfight cleared, seven of the Baldwin-Felts men, including the two brothers, as well as Mayor Testerman, were dead.

			The miners won the initial fight and spirits were high after beating the hated Baldwin-Felts detectives. But it was just the beginning of a period of guerilla warfare. Men died on both sides, including Hatfield and a friend; they were unarmed and murdered in cold blood by Baldwin-Felts detectives.

			The fight over southern West Virginia culminated in 1921 with the Battle of Blair Mountain in Logan County. Seven thousand lightly armed miners took on three thousand heavily armed deputies and Baldwin-Felts detectives led by Sheriff Chafin.

			The miners held their own until U.S. President Warren G. Harding authorized the use of the West Virginia National Guard to attack the miners’ positions on the mountain. National Guard planes were deployed and dropped bombs, including poisonous gas bombs.

			The running gunbattles lasted several days and resulted in the deaths of approximately one hundred miners and fifty of Chafin’s men. Nearly a thousand miners, many of them army veterans of World War I, who had refused to fire on National Guard troops and surrendered, were tried for murder. Some were acquitted by sympathetic juries, but others spent decades in prison.

			The Battle of Blair Mountain was the largest labor uprising in United States history. It was also a watershed event for the UMWA. It crushed the union in West Virginia, which prohibited union organizing until the 1930s, and demoralized union organizers elsewhere in coal country.

			During the rest of the decade, as the post-war economy tanked and, with it, coal prices, the mine owners and operators essentially chased the union from Pennsylvania, Ohio, Indiana, and the West. The UMWA had never had much luck organizing the southern Appalachian coal fields and lost ground there, too.

			Nationally, union membership shrank from nearly four hundred thousand in 1920 to less than one hundred thousand by 1929, most of them in Illinois. Some of the losses were attributable to increased mechanization used to extract coal, which meant fewer jobs. But after the debacle in West Virginia, there was a perception that John Lewis and the UMWA were ineffective and powerless against the anti-union forces arrayed against them.

			By the end of the 1920s, the United Mine Workers of America was broke, on the run, and losing ground in coal country. However, although it wasn’t at first evident, the tide was about to turn.

			The line in the sand was Harlan County, a mountainous coal-mining region of eastern Kentucky that would earn a reputation as “Bloody Harlan.” The Harlan County War was a vicious nearly ten-year conflict between the union and miners on one side and coal firms, their gun thugs and corrupt law enforcement on the other.

			Fought mostly in Harlan County, as well as neighboring Bell County, the Depression-era struggle would be the longest, most vicious labor dispute in U.S. history. It didn’t, however, begin on a high note for the UMWA.

			As the nation entered the Great Depression, the coal industry, which had always been known for its boom-and-bust cycles, was in a slump. Overproduction and competition from home heating fuels, and a nation that was turning to oil and gas to meet its transportation and industrial needs, contributed to lost jobs and lower wages in coal country.

			By 1931, four thousand Harlan County miners, nearly a third of the workforce, were unemployed. Those who did still have jobs made less than eighty cents an hour and only worked a few days a week. Many had been evicted from their company homes and lived on the edge of starvation with their families.

			The UMWA was of no help. During the 1920s, the union had made headway into the Central Appalachian coal fields. However, when miners in Bell and Harlan Counties went out on strike in 1931, the union withdrew its promised support. Historians would later blame the perfidy on Lewis, who was worried that broad-based strikes would deplete union relief funds.10

			The UMWA’s abdication of its place in the fight left the door open for the National Miners Union (NMU), which had been formed by the American Communist Party. The NMU started by setting up soup kitchens at which they recruited miners.

			The coal operators responded by having gun thugs dynamite the soup kitchen in Evarts. Miners who tried to guard other NMU kitchens were arrested on flimsy charges by deputies who worked for corrupt Sheriff J.H. Blair. Anyone thought to be a union organizer or sympathizer was beat and expelled from the county.

			On August 30, 1931, two miners were shot and killed by gun thugs at the soup kitchen in Clovertown, a company-town in Harlan County. One of the men responsible for killing the two miners was tried for murder. But the jury, regaled by the prosecution and sheriff about the communist sympathies of the victim, determined that the killer had acted in “self-defense” when he shot the unarmed miner. The gun thug was acquitted. If it wasn’t clear before, the murders were proof that miners couldn’t depend on the justice system to protect them.

			Judge D.C. Jones, who presided over the trial, said afterwards, “No one belonging to a ‘Red’ organization has any right to look to this court, or to any other court in the country, for justice.”11

			Sheriff Blair made it clear whose side he was on. “I did all in my power to aid the operators,” he later told a pro-union journalist. “There was no compromise when labor troubles swept the county and the ‘Reds’ came to Harlan County.”12

			Tensions continued to escalate with miners, unable to feed or shelter their families, growing increasingly angry. On the other side, the operators hired strikebreakers and armed guards to protect them.

			The inevitable boiled over in May 1931 when heavily armed detectives and gun thugs protecting supplies on their way to strikebreakers were confronted by armed miners on a road near Evarts. Shooting started and by the end of the violence, three deputies and one miner were dead.

			Over the next few days, federal troops were called in by governor, ostensibly to separate the two groups, but they sided with the mine operators and helped break the strike. Union leaders were banned from mines in the county, and forty-four miners were made to stand trial; many of them were convicted and sentenced to jail.

			In January 1932, the NMU called for another strike, but very few minors participated. With that, the NMU was done in Harlan County, and the miner workers were left on their own. Literally starving to death and watching their families suffer, they were branded as communists in the eyes of the outside public and national press, even though most couldn’t have said what communism even meant.

			While at first it didn’t help with the public perception, the mine workers’ cause was picked up by members of the National Committee for the Defense of Political Prisoners, a group of openly socialist writers such as Pulitzer Prize–finalist Theodore Dreiser and novelists John Dos Passos and Sherwood Anderson. Dreiser and Anderson traveled to Harlan County where they interviewed miners until they were arrested and escorted out of the county by Blair’s men.
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